Date: December 4, 2025

To: D. Angelo Penque, Mayor
Ron Hitch, Director of Operations
Brandon Voelker, City Attorney
All City Council members & Staff

From: Robin Morency, City Clerk

Subject: Meeting

The City of Cold Spring will hold a Special Council meeting on Monday, December 8, 2025 at 6:30pm per
the attached agenda. This meeting will be held at the Cold Spring City Building 5694 E. Alexandria Pike

Cold Spring, KY 41076.

Thanks,
Robin






Cold Spring Council Minutes
November 24, 2025

Council members unanimously decided that Councilman Adam Sandfoss would preside the meeting in Mayor Penque’s

absence.

The November 24, 2025 council meeting was called to order by Councilman Sandfoss at 7:30pm followed by the Prayer

and pledge.

Roll Call & Exit Instructions:
e Present: Chris Ampfer, Lisa Cavanaugh, Steve Cunningham, Cindy Moore, Adam Sandfoss, Laura Vroegindewey,

City Clerk Robin Morency, Director of Operations Ron Hitch, Police Chief Steve Collinsworth and Stacy Klosterman.
e Not present: Mayor Penque, Brandon Voelker, Robin Morency

Items of Interest to the Community:
e Pancakes & PJ's with Santa: December 13 from 10:00am — 12:00pm. Registration is required; you can find the

link on our website.
e Cram the Cruiser: December 13% from 8:00am to 2:00pm at the Kroger on Crossroads Boulevard. The St. Vincent

de Paul Wish List can be found on the Police Department and City Facebook page.

Approval of Minutes:
e October 27, 2025, special meeting minutes were reviewed by all. Lisa Cavanaugh made a motion, seconded by

Steve Cunningham. All were in favor. Motion passed.

Additions or Deletions to the Agenda:
e Steve Cunningham proposed adding the second reading of Ordinance 25-1106 to the agenda. Adam Sandfoss
recommended postponing the item until the Mayor and City Attorney could be present to address any questions,
given the significance of the discussion. Steve Cunningham retracted his proposal.

New Business:

e Ordinance 25-1107: 1** reading to approve an ordinance providing for Social Security participation. Chris Ampfer
made a motion, seconded by Steve Cunningham. There was discussion regarding pension participation, which will
remain unchanged. It was also clarified that employees have been informed they will see a decrease in their net
pay. Roll call vote shows 6 yeses and 0 noes. Motion passed.

e Municipal Order 25-11: appointing a member to the Planning & Zoning Commission to fill a vacancy. Ron Hitch
read an email from Paul Kloeker who expressed interest in planning and zoning should a vacancy become
available. Chris Ampfer made a motion, seconded by Lisa Cavanaugh. There was discussion if he was the right fit
for the role. Adam Sandfoss suggested that this be tabled until Paul Kloeker can be present to respond to the
accusations made. Steve Cunningham made a motion to table the vote until the December 8 meeting, seconded
by Cindy Moore. Roll call vote shows 6 yeses and 0 noes. Motion passed.

Follow Up Citizen Comments
e Steve Popovich (resident) addressed council, referencing conversations that he has had with Paul Kloeker in the

past.
e Rick Steinmetz (resident) shared some research that he found about Culver’s, stating that 60% of their business is

drive-thru.



Cold Spring Council Minutes
November 24, 2025

e Lou Gerding (resident) shared his opinion of the owner of the proposed Culver’s property, and stated that it is the
owner’s responsibility to ensure that construction crews clean up the roadway near the site where his house is
being built.

Department Reports (in writing):

e Public Works: Cindy Moore requested an update on the Darlas Drive project. Ron Hitch reported that the project
has been delayed due to weather but is still expected to be completed in December. She also asked for an update
on the playgrounds. Mr. Hitch stated that the new playground equipment was dropped of that morning, and the
current playset at Friendship will be taken down. There was discussion about the construction at the old DAV site,
and the new light that that was put in by Speedway on US 27.

e Police Department: Cindy Moore inquired about the traffic on US 27 in front of Cold Spring Pointe, Chief
Collinsworth stated that the state is in control of the lights and construction.

e Fire Department: Mike Rust, Chairman of the Fire Board, attended on behalf of Chief Schultz. Cindy Moore asked
whether current traffic issues are affecting response times. He stated that he is unsure if response times have
been impacted, but noted that the department is experiencing an increase in runs due to the traffic. He added
that the department recently received a $209,000 grant, which will be used for training. Laura Vroegindewey
asked whether the department is fully staffed, and he confirmed that they are.

Council Comments:

e Steve Cunningham inquired about the time of the special meeting on December 8 and wished everyone a Happy
Thanksgiving.

e Cindy Moore thanked everyone for coming and wished a Happy Thanksgiving. She also clarified some comments
made earlier in the meeting.

e Lisa Cavanaugh commented on the new traffic light installed on US 27, stating that the city was not involved in its
installation and expressing concern that it will create significant congestion.

e Chris Ampfer thanked Adam for filling in for the mayor, and he wished everyone a Happy Thanksgiving.

e laura Vroegindewey thanked everyone for attending the Veterans Day ceremony, expressed appreciation to all
attendees, and wished them a Happy Thanksgiving. She also provided a reminder about the upcoming
Stormwater Committee meeting.

e Adam Sandfoss thanked everyone for coming and wished them a Happy Thanksgiving.

Lou Gerding (resident) stated that the city owes Mike Rust a great deal of gratitude for his contributions, noting that many
people do not fully understand the importance of his role.

Adjournment:
e Lisa Cavanaugh made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 8:44pm, second by Chris Ampfer. All were in favor.
Motion passed.

Approved:



Cold Spring Council Minutes
November 24, 2025

City Clerk: Mayor:

To view the meeting agenda, visit: https.//coldspringky.qgov/city-council/meeting-agendas/
To view the meeting video, visit: https://coldspringky.gov/meeting-videos/




CITY OF COLD SPRING
ORDINANCE NO. 25-1106

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE COLD SPRING ZONING ORDINANCE MODIFYING
PORTIONS OF THE SDA (SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT AREA) ZONE

WHEREAS, a request for a text amendment to the Cold Spring Zoning Ordinance
was submitted to the Cold Spring Planning and Zoning Commission by the Cold Spring
Planning and Zoning Commission, to consider revisions to the SDA (Special Development
Area) zone; and

WHEREAS, the staff reviewed the application and recommended that the
proposed text amendment be approved; and

WHEREAS, the Cold Spring Planning and Zoning Commission, upon reviewing the
staff recommendations and after holding a public hearing, voted to approve the text
amendment on the basis that the text amendment is allowed to be included within the
text of the zoning ordinance, as authorized by Kentucky Revised Statute (KRS) 100.203(1).

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF COLD SPRING, COUNTY OF
CAMPBELL, COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY:

Section |

That the Cold Spring City Council hereby approves said text amendments,
attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and incorporated reference herein, setting forth changes
to the zoning text of the SDA Zone, to the Cold Spring Zoning Ordinance, on the following

bases:

(1) The proposed text amendment modifying the current zoning within the SDA
(Special Development Area) Zone is allowed to be included within the text of the zoning
ordinance, as authorized by the Kentucky Revised Statute (KRS) 100.203(1).

(2) The proposed text amendments modifying the zoning within the SDA (Special
Development Area) Zone are consistent with the purpose of the SDA. Specifically, the
proposed changes set forth current zoning issues and changes necessary to effectuate
the purpose of the SDA Zone.

(3) The proposed text amendments modifying the zoning within the SDA (Special
Development Area) Zone are reasonable.



Section Il
That should any section or part of any section or any provision of this Ordinance
be declared invalid by a Court of competent jurisdiction, for any reason, such declaration
shall not invalidate, or adversely affect, the remainder of this Ordinance.

Section Il

That this Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force when passed, published
and recorded according to the law.

Adopted this day of November, 2025.
1%t Reading - , 2025 Vote: , Yes, , No
2" Reading - , 2025 Vote: , Yes, ,No

City of Cold Spring,
Campbell County, Kentucky

By:

D. Angelo Penque
Mayor

Attest:

Robin Morency
Clerk



EXHIBIT A

(Strikethrough portions are to be deleted, underlined portions are to be added as required by KRS 83A.060(3))

SECTION 10.13 SPECIAL DEVELOPMENT AREA (SDA) ZONE

A. PURPOSE: The purposes of the Special Development Area (SDA) Zone are to: allow
mixed land uses, within a planned and architecturally unified development, which will
be compatible with the adjacent residential areas of the city; allow developments which
will link the older residential areas of the city, city parks, the public library, schools, and
municipal buildings, via pedestrian, bicycle, and vehicular access; create an area that is
conducive to pedestrian and vehicular traffic movement; allow development at a small
scale, with a town-like setting, which is pedestrian oriented; and provide for an area
which supplements or serves adjacent areas without having an adverse impact on
adjacent areas; but always with the intention of furthering the public health, safety, and
general welfare. As to any application for a Conditional Use herein, focus and findings
shall be on the purpose set forth herein.

B. APPLICATION AND PROCESSING: Applications for development within a
Special Development Area (SDA) Zone shall be processed as follows:

1. Applications for a map amendment to zone an area SDA shall follow the
procedures set forth in Article XVII of this ordinance. In addition to the
regulations set forth in Article XVII, of this ordinance, the application shall be
accompanied by a development plan, as regulated by Subsection C., herein, for
the entire area under single ownership.

2 When a site is proposed to be developed within an area which is currently zoned
SDA, a Stage | Development Plan for the entire area under single ownership, as
regulated by Subsection C., herein, shall be submitted for review by the planning
commission. Development shall include: grading of any land; construction of any
streets or other improvements; and the demolition, erection, physical
expansion, or significant change of use of any structure. Development shall
not include the normal maintenance (e.g., cleaning, painting, etc.) of any
structure. Development shall also not include the change of use within an
existing structure where the change of use is between similar land use types (i.e.
residential to residential, real estate office to insurance office, etc.) and where
the change of use does not require building additions or additions in required
off-street parking areas.

a. The planning commission shall hold a public hearing on the proposed
Stage | Development Plan in accordance with the requirements of KRS
Chapter 424, and review said Stage | Development Plan with regard to
its compliance with the stated purpose of the Special Development Area
(SDA) Zone, the required elements of the Stage | Development Plan,



C.

applicable requirements of this section of the ordinance, and other
applicable requirements of this ordinance. Upon holding such hearing,
the planning commission shall, within ninety (90) days after the
completion of the public hearing, take action to approve, disapprove, or
approve with conditions, the Stage | Development Plan.

Stage Il - A Stage !l Development Plan, for the area proposed to be
developed, shall be developed in conformance with the approved Stage |
Development Plan and in accordance with the requirements of Subsection D.,
herein, and submitted to the planning commission for its review. Except for the
manner of submission and processing, the subdivision regulations may be
waived, where applicable, and the requirements of Subsection D., herein, shall
be substituted therefore. Those requirements not specifically waived by the
planning commission shall conform with the subdivision regulations.

a. The planning commission shall review the submitted Stage |l
Development Plan with regard to its compliance with the required
elements of Subsection D., herein, its conformity with the approved
Stage | Development Plan, applicable requirements of this section of
the ordinance, and other applicable requirements of this ordinance.
Following review of the submitted Stage Il Development Plan, the
planning commission shall take action to approve, disapprove, or
approve with conditions, the Stage |l Development Plan. The planning
commission, in approving the Stage Il Development Plan, may authorize
minor adjustments from the approved Stage | Development Plan,
provided that the adjustments do not affect the spatial relationship
of structures, change land uses, increase overall density, significantly
alter circulation patterns (vehicular and pedestrian), decrease the
amount and/or usability of open space or recreation areas, or conflict
with other applicable requirements of this ordinance.

b. Upon planning commission approval of the Stage Il Development
Plan, a copy of said plan shall be forwarded to the zoning administrator,
who shall grant permits only in accordance with the approved Stage I
Development Plan and other regulations as may be required by this
ordinance.

STAGE | DEVELOPMENT PLAN REQUIREMENTS: The Stage | Development
Plan shall identify and provide the following information, where applicable:

1.

Plan(s) of the subject property drawn to a scale not smaller than one (1) inch
equals one hundred (100) feet showing:

a. The total area in the project

b. The present zoning of the subject property and all adjacent properties



All public and private rights-of-way and easement lines located on or
adjacent to the subject property which are proposed to be continued,
created, enlarged, relocated, or abandoned

Existing and proposed topography shown by contour with intervals not
to exceed five (5) feet

All existing and proposed housing units on the subject property:

(1) Detached housing - location, arrangement and number of all
lots, including a typical section(s) identifying approximate lot
sizes and dimensions, and setbacks and height of buildings

(2) Attached housing - location, height, and arrangement of all
buildings, number of units within each building and all lot
lines with approximate dimensions where applicable

Location, arrangement, height and identification of all existing and
proposed nonresidential buildings and uses on the subject property

The amount of area proposed for common open space, including the
location and arrangement of recreational facilities, identification of
unique natural features to be retained and a statement indicating the
means of maintaining all common areas

Location of proposed pedestrian walkways, identifying type of surfacing
and approximate dimension

Location of proposed streets identifying approximate dimensions of
pavement and right-of-way widths, type of surfacing and approximate
grades

Location of off-street parking, loading and/or unloading and driveway
areas, identifying the number of off-street parking spaces to be
provided, type of surfacing and approximate dimensions

Location of all existing and proposed water, sanitary sewer and
storm drainage lines, indicating approximate pipe sizes and grades.
Indication should also be given regarding the provision of electric and
telephone service

Certification from appropriate water and sewer agencies that services
will be available

Landscaping features including identification of planting areas and the
location, type, and approximate height of fences and walls

Location of signs, indicating their orientation and approximate size and



D.

height

0. Identification of the soil types and geologic formations on the subject
property, indicating anticipated problems and proposed method of
handling said problems

p. A schedule of development, including the staging and phasing of:
(1) Residential areas, in order of priority, by type of dwelling unit
(2) Streets, utilities, and other public facility improvements, in
order of priority
(3) Dedication of land to public use or set aside for common
ownership
(4) Non residential buildings and uses, in order of priority

The information required in items a through p, may be combined in any suitable
and convenient manner so long as the data required is clearly indicated. A
separate plan or drawing for each element is not necessary, but may be
provided at the option of the applicant.

STAGE || DEVELOPMENT PLAN REQUIREMENTS: The Stage Il Development
Plan shall identify and provide the following information, where applicable:

1.

Plan(s) of the subject property drawn to a scale not smaller than one (1) inch
equals one hundred (100) feet showing:

a. The existing proposed finished topography of the subject property
shown by contours with intervals not to exceed five (5) feet. Where
conditions exist that may require more detailed information on the
proposed topography, contours with intervals of less than five (5) feet
may be required by the Planning Commission

b. All housing units on the subject property:

(1) Detached housing - Location, arrangement and number of all
lots, including exact lot dimensions and setbacks, and maximum
height of buildings

(2) Attached housing - Location, height, and arrangement of all
buildings indicating the number of units in each building, and,
where applicable, location and arrangement of all lots with
exact lot dimensions

C. Location, height, arrangement and identification of all nonresidential
buildings and uses on the subject property and, where applicable,

location and arrangement of all lots with exact lot dimensions

d. All common open space areas, including identification of planting



areas and the location and arrangement of all recreational facilities

Landscaping features, including identification of planting areas and the
location, type and height of walls and fences

Location of signs indicating their orientation and size and height
All utility lines and easements:

(1) Water distribution system, including pipe sizes, width of
easements, types of pipe, location of hydrants and valves, and
other appurtenances

(2) Sanitary sewer system, including pipe sizes, width of
easements gradients, type of pipes, invert elevations, location
and type of manholes, the location, type, size of all lift or
pumping stations, capacity, and process of any necessary
treatment facilities, and other appurtenances

(3) Storm sewer and natural drainage system, including pipe
and culvert sizes, gradients, location of open drainage courses,
width of easements, location and size of inlets and catch

basins, location and size of retention and/or
sedimentation basins, and data indicating the quantity of storm
water entering the subject property naturally from areas
outside the property, the quantity of flow at each pickup point
(inlet) the quantity of storm water generated by development
of the subject area, and the quantity of storm water to be
discharged at various points to areas outside the subject
property

(4) Other utilities (e.g., electric, telephone, etc.) including the
type of service and width of easements

Location of all off-street parking, loading and/or unloading, and
driveway areas, including typical cross sections, the type of surfacing,
dimensions, and the number and arrangement of off- street parking,
and loading and/or unloading spaces

Circulation System:

(1) pedestrian walkways, including alignment, grades, type of
surfacing and width
(2) streets, including alignment, grades, type of surfacing, width

of pavement and right-of-way, geometric details, and typical
cross sections

Provisions for control of erosion, hillside slippage and sedimentation,
indicating the temporary and permanent control practices and
measures which will be implemented during all phases of clearing,
grading, and construction



E.

k. The schedule of development staging and phasing in accordance with
the requirement in Subsection B., 3., and as approved in the Stage |
approved Development Plan

The information required in items a. through k., may be combined in any suitable
and convenient manner so long as the data required is clearly indicated. A
separate plan or drawing for each element is not necessary but may be provided
at the option of the applicant.

PERMITTED USES:

Offices for The Following

a. Banks and other financial institutions, including savings, loan, and
finance companies

b. General use or professional

offices c. Interior decorating

studio

d. Studios for artists, designers, photographers, musicians, and sculptors
including teaching of the fine arts and galleries for display of art items

e. Travel agency

Retail and Service
Uses:

Antigue stores

Apparel shops

Art supplies

Bakery and bakery goods store, provided the products are sold
exclusively on the premises

Barber and beauty shops

Bicycle shop

Book, stationery, or gift shop

Butcher shops

Camera and photographic supplies

Candy store, soda fountain, ice cream store, excluding drive-in
facilities

Carpet and flooring store

Child day care center

Computer store

Delicatessen

Drug store

Dry cleaning store

Eating and drinking places, excluding those with drive-in facilities
Fabric store

Florist shop

o0 oo

w sowo 353



t. Furniture repair shop
u. Glass or pottery shop
V. Health and fitness facility
w. Hobby shop
X. Home improvement store, including sales and service
y. Jewelry store
z. Leather goods and luggage store
aa. Locksmith shop
bb. Music, musical instruments, and records, including incidental repair
cc. Opticians and optical goods
dd. Paint and wallpaper store
ee. Photocopy establishment
ff. Printing establishment
gg. Radio and television sales and service
hh. Recreational facility
ii. Shoe store and shoe repair
jj- Sporting goods store
kk. Tailor shop
Il. Video tape sales and rental
mm. Wine store
3. Public And Semi Public Uses
a. Churches and other buildings for the purpose of religious worship.
b. Fire stations
Funeral
home
d. Police
station
e. Post
office
f. Public and parochial
schools
4. Dwelling units not to exceed eleven (11) dwelling units per acre (DUA).

CONDITIONAL USES: No building or occupancy permit, including primary and accessory
structures, shall be issued for any of the following uses, unless the location of said use has
been approved as set forth in Section 9.12 and 18.7 of this ordinance._As with permitted
uses, conditional uses must align with the purpose of the SDA zone.

1. Drive-through facilities, with a sit-down eating and drinking establishment as the
primary use of the property, may be provided subject to the following

requirements:
a. Access management controls be utilized to protect existing pedestrian

and vehicular flows, including the limitation or closure of curb cuts.

b. Fheproposed-dDrive-through ordering station/windows for ordering or



pick up will not be on a building elevation that abuts a—residentialzone a
residential use. The drive-through shall be designed to provide safe
pedestrian access for its patrons.

Drive through stacking spaces may not be included in the minimum
parking requirements. Spaces for parking for order pickup only, if
designated by sign may not be included in the minimum parking
reguirements.

Indoor dining must remain be open when drive thru facilities are in use.
When abutting a residential use, tF¥he drive-through and outdoor
accessory seating may only operate between the hours of 6:00 AM and
9:00 PM-, Sunday through Thursday, and 6:00 AM and 10:00 PM, Friday
through Saturday.

Outdoor entertainment may only operate between the hours of 9:00 AM
and 9:00 PM.

Minimum indoor dining seating is required to align with the purpose of
the SDA zone and maintain the primary focus of the facility as a sit-down
eating and drinking establishment. The establishment shall provide

indoor dining seating for at least forty{40}-percent-of-the-totalsquare
footage—ofthe buildingfifty (50) patrons. Additional outdoor seating

which is designed to promote community gathering and does not impede
pedestrian flows is permitted.

That the conditional use provides for pedestrian, bicycle, and/or other
forms of alternative travel, other than auto, to and from its property.

ACCESSORY USES:

1. Customary accessory structures and uses.
2. Fences and/or walls, as regulated by Article XlII of this ordinance.
3. Signs, as regulated by Article XIV of this ordinance.

AREA AND HEIGHT REGULATIONS FOR PERMITTED USES: No building shall be erected
or structurally altered hereafter except in accordance with the following regulations:

g S 0

Minimum Lot Area - One - half (1/2) acre

Minimum Lot Width At Building Setback Line - One hundred (100) feet
Maximum Impervious Surface Ratio - Seventy (70) percent

Maximum Building Height - Forty (40) feet

In the case of this zone, more than one principal structure, as herein

defined, may be permitted on one lot

AREA AND HEIGHT REGULATIONS FOR CONDITIONALLY PERMITTED USES: No building
shall be erected or structurally altered hereafter except in accordance with the following

regulations:

1. Minimum Lot Area — One and one-half Fwe{2}-acres

2. Minimum Lot Width At Building Setback Line - One hundred seventy (170) feet
on an arterial street

3. Maximum Impervious Surface Ratio - Seventy (70) percent

4. Maximum Building Height - Fhirty{35} Forty (40) feet



























	ADP729E.tmp
	A MUNICIPAL ORDER APPOINTING A MEMBER TO THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF COLD SPRING, KENTUCKY
	SECTION ONE


	ADPE8C2.tmp
	A MUNICIPAL ORDER APPOINTING A MEMBER TO THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF COLD SPRING, KENTUCKY
	SECTION ONE



